No. 32672

---

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

**At Charleston**

---

---

**ULRIKA BROWNING, TIMOTHY HIGGINS, AND WENDY HIGGINS**

*Plaintiffs Below, Appellants,*

v.

**JUDITH HALLE and  
ANDREAS HALLE**

*Defendants Below, Appellees.*

---

*From the Circuit Court of  
Upshur County, West Virginia  
Civil Action No. 02-C-104*

---

---

**APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

This Appeal stems from the October 6, 2004 Order of the Circuit Court of Upshur County, Judge Thomas A. Keadle, which granted Appellees/Defendants Summary Judgment as to all of Appellants/Plaintiffs' causes of action alleged in their Complaint. The parties are neighbors and all reside upon the waters of Laurel Run Creek in the rural Rock Cave area of Upshur County, West Virginia, an area known locally as Eden Hollow. The underlying Complaint filed by the Appellants against the Appellees alleges that the actions by the Appellees and their contractors upon their land have damaged and continue to damage Appellants riparian rights and have created a nuisance. The underlying Complaint requests injunctive relief and money damages. Following almost two years of discovery activity with jury trial scheduled one week later on September 21, 2004, on September 15, 2004, after a ten minute hearing, the Court from the bench granted Appellees Summary Judgment. Appellants assert that the Circuit Court of Upshur County exceeded its authority and abused its discretion in granting summary judgment in the face of numerous asserted facts establishing a prima facie case, supported by competent and credible opinion testimony from Appellants' biology expert and hydrology expert, which should have been allowed to be presented to a jury.

## **II. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF RULINGS BELOW**

While this matter is an appeal of a an order granting Appellees summary judgment, the facts and causes of action asserted in Appellants' Complaint filed below in the Circuit Court of Upshur County, Civil Action No. 02-C-104, were originally asserted in response to a prior lawsuit filed by the Appellees herein, Judith N. Halle and Andreas Halle, against Appellant Ulrika

Browning, also in the Circuit Court of Upshur County, Civil Action No. 02-C-63. The Complaint filed by the Halles against Ulrika Browning sought temporary and permanent injunctive relief as well as money damages for nuisance and interfering with the Halle's quiet enjoyment of their real estate. On July 30, 2002 after hearing witness testimony, which included assertions by Appellant Browning of similar conduct by the Halles, and considering evidence on the Halles' Motion for Temporary Injunction, the Circuit Court entered an Order enjoining all parties from the following:

1. Playing loud music, television or similar devices or engaging in conduct that disrupts the other parties quiet enjoyment and use of their property.
2. From blocking the roadways or interfering with the other parties, guests, invitee's or otherwise.
- c. That the parties are required to keep dogs on their own property and parties are to inhibit the barking of their dogs so as to prevent the same from annoying neighbors.

Thereafter, Ms. Browning filed in response to the prior lawsuit an Amended Answer and Counterclaim alleging, with the Higgins joining as third party claimants, among other things, as follows:

- a. Activities of the Halles damaged the riparian water rights of each of your Petitioners;
- b. The acts and omissions of the Halles constitute a nuisance interfering with the quiet enjoyment of the respective property of Petitioners Browning and Higgins.

By Order of October 7, 2002, the Circuit Court dismissed the Counterclaims and third party claims, without prejudice to refile such claims as a separate action. On December 12, 2002,

your Appellants herein filed in this Court a Petition for Writ of Prohibition (No. 022483) which sought to prohibit the Circuit Court from subjecting Ms. Browning to a criminal contempt jury trial for alleged violations of the July 30, 2002 Temporary Injunction Order in disregard of her due process rights, and to prohibit the Circuit Court from dismissing the riparian and nuisance claims against the Halles and forcing your Petitioners to file a separate lawsuit to assert those claims. By Order of January 16, 2003, this Court refused the Petition for Writ of Prohibition.<sup>1</sup> Just prior to the entry of this Court's January 16, 2003 Order, the Circuit Court canceled the criminal contempt jury trial and referred the Petition for Contempt to the Upshur County Prosecuting Attorney for investigation, who later reported to the Circuit Court that he could not find probable cause to prosecute the Petition for Contempt.

On December 9, 2002 your Appellants filed their Complaint, subject of the instant Appeal, in the Circuit Court of Upshur County, Civil Action No. 02-C-104 against the Halles alleging that the Halles' actions and the acts of their contractors upon their land had damaged the Appellants' riparian rights and created a nuisance suffered by the Appellants (see *Complaint*).

On September 7, 2004, the Halles filed their *Motion for Summary Judgment* and *Memorandum of Law in Support* thereof ("*MSJ*") with attached exhibits. On September 13, 2004, Appellants filed their *Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* ("*Response to MSJ*") with attached exhibits. At a September 15, 2004 hearing, the Appellants filed their *Addendum to Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* and the Court heard argument. From the bench, and by written Order of October 6, 2004, the Circuit

---

<sup>1</sup>The Complaint, transcript of July 30, 2002 hearing, the Temporary Injunction Order and other referenced documents can be found as part of the Petition for Writ of Prohibition previously filed with the Court.

Court granted the Halles' Motion for Summary Judgment as to all issues (see Transcript of Proceedings had 9/25/04<sup>2</sup>), in the face of extensive discovery conducted by the parties and eleven (11) depositions of the parties and fact and expert witnesses.

On October 14, 2004, your Appellants filed nine deposition transcripts, *Affidavit of Plaintiff Timothy Higgins* with three (3) VHS videotapes and *Plaintiffs' Responses to Defendants' First Set of Interrogatories* and their *Motion for Relief From Judgment or, In The Alternative, To Reconsider the Court's Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment*.

On November 19, 2004, the Halles filed their (1) *Memorandum of Authority in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Relief from Judgment and Motion to Reconsider the Court's Prior Order* and (2) *Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Submission of Additional Discovery in Support of Motion for Relief From Judgment*.

Appellants' Petition for Appeal was filed with the Court February 3, 2005 and granted on May 9, 2005. This Court by its Order of May 9, 2005 "ordered that the above-captioned proceeding be heard, submitted and determined upon the original record, briefs of counsel and oral argument, if requested by the parties. " By letter dated May 18, 2005, the Appellants were advised that they had 20 days to designate such portions of the record deemed relevant to the issues presented on appeal. On May 25, 2005 Appellants mailed to the Circuit Clerk of Upshur County Plaintiffs' Notice of Adequate Record for Appeal advising that the Plaintiffs do not desire to supplement the record as previously prepared pursuant to Rule 4(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. On May 25, 2005 the Circuit of Upshur County entered an Order

---

<sup>2</sup>The 9/25/04 date listed on the docket sheet should reflect the 9/15/04 date.

granting the Halles' *Motion to Strike* discovery filed in support of Appellant's *Motion for Relief From Judgment or, In The Alternative, To Reconsider the Court's Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment*, without ruling upon the Appellant's *Motion or Relief from Judgment*. By letter of June 27, 2005 the Circuit Clerk advised the parties the record for appeal was forwarded to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. The Clerk did not transmit the deposition transcripts, videotapes, documents and other items filed with the Notice of Filing on October 14, 2004, which was part of the record filed with Appellants' Petition for Appeal.<sup>3</sup>

### III. APPELLANTS' STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 2000 the Halles, purchased approximately eighty (80) acres of Upshur County farmland that they found via the internet. This tract is at the top of a watershed for a tributary of Laurel Run Creek near Rock Cave, Upshur County, West Virginia, and is locally known as Eden Hollow. The contour of the Halles' tract is fairly steep, rugged and resembles a funnel. Their buildings are located close to the drain of this funnel. The Halles, both college professors, moved to Eden Hollow after living most of their lives in Whittier, California. They planned to start an Arabian horse boarding and breeding operation on the subject tract. Judith Halle has a Ph.D in nursing from UCLA concentrating in maternal fetal physiology and has served as an expert witness over 40 times. (see *Transcript of Deposition of Judith Halle*, pp.4-13).

---

<sup>3</sup>Appellants further address this issue herein below. In order to distinguish between references to facts in the record as transmitted with Appellants Petition for Appeal and the record as most recently transmitted by the Circuit Clerk to this Court, references herein to any stricken discovery items are highlighted in bold text.

Appellant Browning and her two teenage daughters live on her property separated from the Halles' land by the gravel road. Petitioner Browning is the daughter of the locally known wood sculptor Wolfgang Flor, who built by hand the houses situate on the Halles' property. Appellant Browning in fact grew up on the Halles' property. Appellant Higgins is owner of an auto repair and parts business specializing in Volvo products and lives just downstream from Ms. Browning and the Halles. The subject stream runs from the Halles' land across land of Ms. Browning and joins the main stem of Laurel Run Creek which then runs across the land of Appellants Higgins. Approximately 200 yards distance separates the Higgins from the Halles.

The Appellants alleged in their Complaint that the Halles created a nuisance and have otherwise damaged Appellants' riparian rights by the actions and inactions of Halles that has resulted in pollution of the subject stream with sedimentation and animal excrement, as well as an increased frequency of flooding (see *Complaint and Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* ).

The waters of Laurel Run is the primary source of water that has been used, and which use continued, by each of your Appellants for drinking, domestic (i.e., washing clothes), agricultural (gardening and watering animals) and other purposes for as long as they have owned their respective real estate (the Higgins since 1972 and Ms. Browning since 1982), until mid-2000 when the Halles began the activities subject of this appeal. Ms. Browning has drunk and otherwise used the waters of Laurel Run her whole life.

Within a few months of their purchase of their property, the Halles began clear-cutting timbering, construction and other activities which have adversely affected the color, drinking purity, quality, quantity and flood mitigation qualities of the water flowing through Laurel

Run and upon the real estate of your Appellants. Consequently, these activities have adversely affected the quality of life of Appellants that existed prior to the commencement of the activities by the Halles. The stream at the Higgins' property has flooded since then with a frequency not ever seen, even with the heavy rainfalls of the mid-1980's.

Prior to the commencement of the timbering, construction and other activities by the Halles, the Higgins advised the Halles in writing of the sensitive ecology of Laurel Run and requested that they conduct the planned clear cut timbering operations so as not to adversely impact the Higgins and other people living downstream from the Halles' property. There is no dispute that Dr. Halle received this letter. (see *Transcript of Deposition of Timothy Higgins*, pp. 106-108 and Exhibit 7, *Transcript of Deposition of Judith Halle*, pp. 78-82, *Transcript of Deposition of Wendy Higgins*, pp. 39-40).

On June 9, 2003 Appellants' biology expert Dr. Benjamin Stout III and hydrology expert Richard Eades conducted an inspection of the Halles' land pursuant to Rule 36 of the W. Va. R. Civ. Proc. During this inspection, Appellants discovered the Halles had, among other things:

- a) recently built a barn located within 25 feet of the subject creek with visible effluent flowing from the adjacent feeding and exercise area directly into the creek;
- b) had paved a driveway and area adjacent to the barn and over the creek;
- c) had apparently installed a drain pipe from the floor of the barn directly into the creek<sup>4</sup>;

---

<sup>4</sup>It was later learned in discovery that the floor drain was installed into the home waste treatment unit, which according to Randy Reger, the installer, compromises the proper operation of the unit. (see below)

- d) had built a large animal manure pile on the bank of the creek; and,
- e) installed other drain pipes emptying apparently from the residence structure into the creek.

(See, *Response to MSJ*, Exhibit 2 Site Assessment Report 5/16/04, by Richard T. Eades and Exhibit 3, Deposition of Richard Talmadge Eades, pp. 104-107, Exhibit 4, Dr. Benjamin Stout Report 9/19/03 and Stout Report May 19, 2004, Exhibit 5, Deposition of Dr. Benjamin Stout, pp. 11-46 *Affidavit of Timothy Higgins*, VHS videotape marked "Rick Eades".)

As a result of the discovery of the matters outlined above, Appellants requested, and were granted, with some delay, the opportunity to withdraw water samples from the subject creek upon the Halles' property for fecal coliform testing. The water samples were taken by Dr. Stout on September 2, 2003. Dr. Stout also took water samples from various points further downstream and delivered all of the water samples to Reliance Laboratories in Bridgeport, West Virginia for testing for fecal coliform analysis (see *Plaintiffs' Motion for Preliminary Injunction* and Exhibits attached thereto). The fecal coliform analysis results reflected a bacteria count in the water emanating from the Halles' subject real estate grossly in excess of limits allowed by state and federal regulations for public water plants and grossly in excess of limits for safe human and/or animal consumption or other recreational, household and/or agricultural use. (See *Plaintiffs' Motion for Preliminary Injunction*, Exhibit A, Dr. Stout's Report and Reliance Laboratory test results). The Appellants forwarded Dr. Stout's report to the W.Va. Department of Environmental Protection as a complaint. (see, *Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law in Support*, Exhibit 3).

Another source point of fecal coliform contamination and possible intentional wrongful act of the Halles was revealed through discovery. Dr. Judith Halle testified in deposition that she had the drain to the concrete floor of their \$50,000 barn plumbed into the their Mighty Mac home aeration human waste treatment unit. (See, *Response to MSJ*, Exhibit 6, *Transcript of Deposition of Judith Halle* pp.108-109) This unit treats human waste and discharges treated effluent into the subject stream and requires a water pollution permit from the DEP. Randy Reger, the manufacturer and installer of the unit, and disclosed by Respondents as one of their experts, testified that to run animal wastes through the Mighty Mac unit would compromise its operation and discharge effluent that would degrade the quality of the water in the stream. (See, *Response to MSJ*, Exhibit7, *Transcript of Deposition of Randy Reger*, pp.50-57).

The grounds for Appellants' theories of liability and claims for damage to the subject stream are twofold: 1) soil erosion and sedimentation, caused by the logging and other farming/construction activities by the Halles, and, 2) fecal coliform contamination due to several source points created by the Halles. Appellants are unable to use the stream for drinking, domestic and farming purposes in the same way as they have used the subject stream prior to the arrival of the Respondents. The subject stream continues to turn muddy after any rainfall event of approximately 1/4 inch or greater preventing Appellants from using the water from the stream for washing clothes, their vehicles or anything else for several days.

Appellants' expert opinions establish that, at a minimum, after any rainfall event of approximately 1/4 inch or greater that the subject stream is contaminated with unsafe levels of fecal coliform for a period of several days thereafter, likewise preventing Appellants from using the stream safely for the several day period. Appellants cannot ever use the water with

any confidence of its purity given the uncertainty of the proper operation of the Halles' Mighty Mac waste treatment unit. Meanwhile, the Appellants have been forced to incur extreme aggravation and additional expense to maintain their households in the usual manner because of the Halles' activities. [see *Transcript of Deposition of Timothy Higgins*, pp.17-23 (damage to Higgins' property and money damages from Halles activities), pp.36-36 , 41-49 (evidence of nuisance/flooding from Halle activities), pp.51-53 (sedimentation and erosion), pp. 73-75 (emotional distress), pp.76-77 (need for alternative water sources), pp.89-94, (describes photos depicting sedimentation problems), pp. 100-103 (loss of fish life in stream), pp. 115-121 (evidence of nuisance/effect of sedimentation on day to day activities); see *Transcript of Deposition of Wendy Higgins*, pp. 6-13 (detrimental effects of Halles' activities on Higgins); pp. 14-16 (history of drinking water from creek/Culligan man says water is pure), pp. 19-30 (adverse effect of Halles activities on Higgins), pp. 36-38 (changes to stream since Halles' activities commenced), pp.46-48 (effect of drought on water consumption without availability of stream); *Transcript of Deposition of Ulrika Browning*, pp.12-19 (effect of sedimentation on lifestyle; aggravation of obtaining water from alternative sources), pp.30-35 (change in water quality/flooding after Halles' activities commenced), pp.58-59 (effects of not having reliable water source in winter), pp.77-78 (expenses/damages incurred from being unable to use water from stream), pp. 81-83 (inability of Forestry division to resolve problems), pp.91-109 (identification of photographs evidencing sedimentation and erosion coming from Halle property), pp.115-123 (explanation of Ms. Browning's belief that water from stream could be used safely for drinking purposes); see *Response to MSJ*, Exhibit 2 Site Assessment Report 5/16/04, by Richard T. Eades and Exhibit 3, Deposition of Richard Talmadge Eades, pp. 104-

107, Exhibit 4, Dr. Benjamin Stout Report 9/19/03 and Stout Report May 19, 2004, Exhibit 5, Deposition of Dr. Benjamin Stout, pp. 11-46;][see also the following which were filed in support of *Plaintiffs Motion for Relief From Judgment*, (1) *Affidavit of Timothy Higgins* with : a. VHS videotape marked “Rick Eades”, b. VHS videotape marked “Creek at Higgins March 93 to March 04 (about 40 minutes)” ; c. VHS videotape marked “Logging - Perrines at Halles 2/15/04 Higgins Creek and tributary into it April 26- 04 May 2-04 (about 30 minutes)” ; (2) *Plaintiff Ulrika Browning’s Responses to Defendants’ First Interrogatories; Plaintiffs Timothy Higgins and Wendy Higgins’ Responses to Defendants’ First Interrogatories.*]

On September 7, 2004, with discovery and preparation nearly completed and trial scheduled for September 21, 2004, the Halles filed their Motion for Summary Judgment claiming 1) Petitioners’ claims were factually unsupported by the record in the case, that the Halles have not acted unreasonably in the use of their land, that the Halles’ use of their land has not proximately caused any significant interference with Appellants’ riparian rights, that the Halles’ timbering and agricultural uses conformed to best management practices, and that the instant action was brought solely in retaliation for the Halles having sued Appellant Browning in *Halle v. Browning*, Civil Action No. 02-C-63, filed in the Circuit Court of Upshur County, West Virginia, and subject of the Petition for Writ of Prohibition referenced above. By Order of October 6, 2004, the Circuit Court granted the Halles’ Summary Judgment as to all claims.

#### IV. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

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