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

Logging the Halle property has increased the runoff coefficient, but there is no indication that this has caused any harm. This increased theoretical risk of higher peak flows with specific rainfall events, results from any land use which is not mature forest land. The land management practices employed by the Halles are accepted practice throughout the state.

This inspection by Forestry, indicating general compliance with BMPs, means that responsible care was being exercised in the conduct of the logging operation.

FECAL COLIFORM CONTAMINATION

After the Appellants filed their action against the Halles, they filed a complaint with the Upshur County Health Department and the West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection (hereinafter "DEP"), alleging that surface water run-off from the Halles' property into Laurel Run had caused high levels of fecal coliform in the stream.⁶

In response to the Appellants' complaint, the DEP conducted fecal coliform sampling in the Laurel Run watershed and issued a report of its findings (Exhibit 3; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment). The report concluded that:

A review of the data suggests that residential, agricultural, and other activity within the investigation area is not contributing a significant source of fecal coliform during the sampling period.⁷

Dr. McCoy also conducted an exhaustive sampling of Laurel Run for the presence of fecal coliform, pursuant to the testing parameters required under the State's water quality rules.⁸

Dr. McCoy and his assistant conducted seven samplings over two months and obtained samples from eight locations on Laurel Run, including locations above, below and on the Halles' part of the stream, during each sampling session.

⁶ The presence of fecal coliform bacteria is not in itself harmful, but is an indicator of the presence of human or animal fecal contamination. (Assessment of Select Environmental Conditions of the Halle Property, Exhibit 4, p. 7; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.)

⁷ A copy of the report was provided to the Appellants' counsel by letter dated December 29, 2003, from Bradley Swiger, the DEP's environmental enforcement inspector supervisor. The Appellants were invited to submit additional data or information relevant to their claim that the Halles' property was the source of fecal coliform contamination in Laurel Run, but they have never provided any additional information to the DEP.

⁸ The Water Quality Rules, Appendix E, Table 1 (Exhibit 5; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment), require not less than five samples per month in order to obtain a statistically valid result.

Dr. McCoy's initial report and his supplemental report contained in his letter of December 23, 2003, concluded that:

Results (Table 1 in Appendix C) of the sampling clearly indicate that the fecal coliform concentrations of Laurel Run leaving the Halle property do not exceed the water quality criterion of 200 fecal coliform colonies per 100ml of surface water. The data collected do indicate that Laurel Run is experiencing violations of the fecal coliform water quality criterion below the plaintiffs' properties at station LR-1, but this is not associated with the activities being conducted on the Halle property. These data were sampled during non storm water events. The fact that these violations occur at station LR-1 downstream of the plaintiffs' properties, but not at LR-2 the station downstream of the Halle property, indicates the source of this fecal coliform contamination is not the Halle property.

Station LR-1, located immediately below the plaintiffs' properties, has a Geometric Mean of 252 Fecal Coliform colonies per 100ml of stream sample. This clearly is a violation of the numeric criterion for Fecal Coliform. This indicates that water quality in the stream as it leaves the Plaintiffs' [Petitioners'] properties is not supportive of the designated uses for that stream. This can in no way be attributed to activities on the Halle property.

This sampling effort demonstrates that activities on the Halle property, relative to the Fecal Coliform concerns, are not rendering the water leaving their property unfit for any designated use.

In contrast to the detailed investigations conducted by the DEP and Dr. McCoy, the Appellants' expert, Dr. Ben Stout, conducted only two samplings of Laurel Run, one under high water conditions and the second nearly four months later. The test results of all 16 of the samples taken by Dr. Stout during his second sampling were within state water quality standards. Dr. Stout's samplings were statistically invalid because he failed to follow the minimum five samplings per month requirement under the state water quality rules.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Rule 56 W.Va. R. Civ. P., summary judgment is proper where the record demonstrates that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Brady v. Deals on Wheels, Inc., 208 W.Va. 636, 542 S.E. 2d 457 (2004). Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove. Brady, *supra* at 641, citing Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E. 2d 329 (1995).

An appellate court applies a plenary review to a circuit court's entry of summary judgment. W.Va. Fire & Cas. Co. v. Stanley, 602 S.E. 2d 483, 489 (2004). A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Bowyer v. Hi-Lad, Inc., 2004 W.Va. LEXIS 197 (2004); Gallapo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W.Va. 172, 475 S.E. 2d 172 (1996); Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E. 2d 755 (1994).

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON AND DISCUSSION OF THE LAW

A. THE HALLES' USE OF THEIR PROPERTY HAS NOT DAMAGED THE APPELLANTS' RIPARIAN RIGHTS NOR CREATED A NUISANCE⁹

"The riparian owner has a property interest in the flow of a natural watercourse through or adjacent to his property." Snyder v. Callaghan, 284 S.E.2d 241, 246 (W. Va. 1981)

⁹ Although the Appellants argue (Appellants' Brief, Argument "F," pp. 38-39) that the trial court neglected to address their negligence cause of action, there were no claims developed during discovery other than nuisance and interference with riparian rights, which are addressed herein.

(citing Halltown Paperboard Co. v. C. L. Robinson Corp., 150 W. Va. 624, 148 S.E.2d 721 (1966)). “The right of enjoying this flow without disturbance, interference or material diminution by any other proprietor is a natural right The right of property is in the right to use the flow, and not in the specific water Each proprietor may make any use of the water which does not essentially or materially diminish the quantity, corrupt the quality or detain it so as to deprive other proprietors of the public of a fair and reasonable participation in its benefits.” Snyder, 284 S.E.2d at 246 (quoting Gaston v. Mace, 33 W. Va. 14, 23, 10 S.E. 60, 63 (1889)). Such a right provides protections to streamside property owners in the event of a scarcity of water, and the reasonable use maxim is a flexible standard that allows courts to decide among competing interests.

The standard of proof to establish liability for interference with riparian rights is the “reasonable use” standard. As this Court in Morris Associates v. Priddy, 181 W. Va. 588, 383 S.E.2d 770 (1989) noted, “In a related area of water law, that of riparian rights, we have always utilized the doctrine of reasonable use ‘The right of a lower riparian owner to the natural flow of the stream is subject only to a reasonable use of the water by the upper riparian owners as it runs through their lands before reaching his.’” Morris, 181 W. Va. at 592, 383 S.E.2d at 774 (citation omitted).¹⁰ See also Russell v. Island Creek Coal Co., 389 S.E.2d 194, 203 (W. Va. 1989) (“The obstruction or diversion of water rights is governed generally by the doctrine of reasonable use.”).

The unreasonable diversion of water is a private nuisance. Roberts v. Martin, 72 W. Va. 92, 77 S.E. 535 (1913). A private nuisance is a substantial and unreasonable interference

¹⁰ There is no allegation that the Halles have engaged in an unreasonable “use of the water” when it was flowing through their property. Rather, the Appellants’ allegations focus on the Halles’ use of their *lands*, not the water.

with the private use and enjoyment of another's land. Recovery for a private nuisance is limited to persons who have suffered a significant harm to their property rights. The unreasonableness of the interference must be determined by balancing of the landowners' competing interests. Hendricks v. Stalnaker, 181 W. Va. 31, 380 S.E.2d 198 (1989).

The undisputed facts of this case clearly establish that the activities of the Halles in the use of their land for their residence and for the maintenance of horses and limited timbering are reasonable uses which have caused no harm – much less a significant harm – to the Appellants, who are downstream users of Laurel Run.¹¹

Ironically, the primary use of Laurel Run which the Appellants contend has been damaged by the Halles' activities is their use of the stream water for **drinking** water. *See*, excerpts of Depositions of Plaintiffs, Exhibits 10,11, and 12; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. All of the experts in this case – including those for the Appellants – have testified that drinking untreated stream water – regardless of the presence of domestic and agricultural run-off – is unsafe and ill advised. *See*, Deposition of Benjamin Stout, pp. 13-15; 68; Deposition of Bradley Swiger, pp. 42-44; Deposition of Richard Eades, pp. 130-131; Assessment of Select Environmental Conditions of the Halle Property, Exhibit 4, pp. 6-7; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Accordingly, the Appellants cannot establish that but for the activities of the Halles, the water in Laurel Run would be safe to drink or to utilize for other domestic purposes.

¹¹ In contrast to the responsible land use practices of the Halles, Mr. Higgins testified during his deposition that his method of human waste disposal is to dump buckets of waste from his privy on to the ground. (Timothy Higgins Deposition, pp. 9-11.)

The Appellants' other concern that there *may be* high water or flooding events or other *potential* conditions on Laurel Run caused by the Halles' land use activities is also unavailing. "It is well-settled, however, that under private nuisance, fear alone is not a sufficient basis for recovery." Carter v. Monsanto, 212 W. Va. 732, 575 S.E.2d 342, 347 (2002).

B. THE APPELLANTS PRODUCED NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT THAT THE HALLES DAMAGED THEIR RIPARIAN WATER RIGHTS.

The Appellants' reliance upon their own deposition testimony and the allegations in their complaint to create material issues of fact was insufficient to overcome the Halles' motion for summary judgment.

The Appellants' depositions contain nothing but anecdotal and speculative testimony about how they *believe* that land use activities on the Halles' property has affected Laurel Run and their use of the water from the stream.

Likewise, the Appellants offered only speculative testimony from their own experts with regard to the *actual* as opposed to *theoretical* impact that the Halles' land use activities have had on Laurel Run. The Appellants' expert, Richard Eades, after expounding on what *might* happen after significant rain falls, admitted that he did no sediment loading studies of Laurel Run which would quantify the amount, if any, of the sediment coming into the stream from various locations – including the Appellants' own properties. Deposition of Richard Eades, p. 107.

The opinion testimony of the Appellants' other expert, Ben Stout, was equally unreliable because his sampling methodology did not comport with the requirements of the State Water Quality Regulations. Even more remarkably, Dr. Stout readily conceded that there were

extremely high fecal coliform levels obtained below the Halles' property (the source of which he couldn't explain) and that there is natural fecal coliform coming into the stream along its entire course.

The reason that the Appellants want this Court to ignore the investigation findings of the State Division of Forestry and the State Department of Environmental Protection (as well as the findings of Dr. McCoy, which have not been challenged) is not because they are irrelevant but because they are the only *objective*, competent evidence of whether the Halles' land use activities have harmed Laurel Run and thus interfered with the Appellants' riparian water rights.¹²

C. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRODUCE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO OVERCOME THE UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS WHICH THE TRIAL COURT RELIED UPON IN GRANTING THE HALLES' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The Appellants misapprehend their burden of proof in opposing the Halles' motion for summary judgment by arguing that "standing alone" (Appellants' Brief, p.20), the allegations in their complaint and their deposition testimony established a *prima facie* cause of action sufficient to overcome the Halles' motion.

The burden was on the Appellants to (1) rehabilitate the evidence in the record attacked by the Halles, (2) produce other evidence showing the existence of genuine, triable issues, or (3) explain by affidavit why additional discovery was necessary. Allstate Wrecker

¹² The Appellants' allusion in their Brief (pp. 9; 31) to the Mighty Mac (i.e. home aeration) unit as a potential source of fecal coliform discharge into the stream is also unsupported by the record. Mrs. Halle testified in her deposition that the Mighty Mac unit is tied into both a bathroom and floor drain in their barn, the latter of which is not used. (Judith Halle deposition, pp. 107-109.) The *treated* effluent from the unit is discharged onto the ground and not into Laurel Run. (Assessment of Select Environmental Conditions of the Halle Property, Exhibit 4; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.)

Service v. Kanawha Co. Sheriff's Dept., 212 W.Va. 226, 569 S.E. 2d 473 (2002). The Appellants failed on all three counts.

Other than dismissing the material facts relied upon by the Halles in their motion for summary judgment as "selective parsing of words surgically excised" (Appellants' Brief, p.29) from the record, the Appellants did not otherwise dispute the evidence offered by the Halles or attempt to rehabilitate the evidence which the Halles called into question. Except for their own deposition testimony and the uncorroborated opinion testimony of their retained experts, they offered no evidence that there were *material* issues of fact which required resolution. The Appellants also did not contend that the Halles' motion was premature or that additional discovery was required.

The Appellants are also mistaken in their understanding of the applicable substantive law governing this Court's determination of whether the facts in this case support a claim of nuisance based upon an interference with their riparian water rights. The cases cited in their Petition deal with surface water run-off and the relative rights of the property owners from whose property the run-off emanates versus those onto which the water flows. The common law as it has been developed with regard to surface water is distinct from that with regard to riparian water rights.

The Halles strenuously disagree with the Appellants' argument that the standard for determining whether they have interfered with the Appellants' riparian water rights is to be considered in light of how the Appellants have historically used the water from Laurel Run. The Halles are subject to a reasonable use standard as measured against whether the Appellants have suffered significant harm to their use of the stream water. In this case the material facts are not in

dispute – the activities on the Halles’ property have not, by any measurable, objective standard, caused significant sedimentation or fecal coliform levels in Laurel Run. On the other hand, the Appellants’ purported use of the water for drinking and other domestic purposes is not only unreasonable – it is by all accounts potentially injurious to their health and well-being.¹³ It is disingenuous for the Appellants to come before this Court and argue that they should be permitted to have a jury decide whether their ill-advised uses of the stream water should nonetheless be protected from the benign up-stream activities of the Halles.

D. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO BRING THEIR RULE 60(b) MOTION ON FOR HEARING BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT AND HAVE WAIVED THEIR RIGHT TO POST-TRIAL RELIEF.

The Appellants argue that the trial court erred by failing to consider and grant their motion for relief from judgment under Rule 60(b) W.Va. R. Civ. P. (Appellants’ Brief, Argument “G,” pp. 39-43.) However, the Appellants neglected to advise this Court that at no time did they request the trial court to hear or otherwise rule on their motion. (See Trial Court Rule 22.04, “Any motion requiring immediate disposition shall be called to the attention of the court by the party filing such motion.”)

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